## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,	CASE NO.: SC07-1739 LT Case No.: 4D06-1486
AN FIELDS, ETC., et al.	
Respondents.	

WILLIAM J. WALLACE, ESQ. FBN: 778125 WILLIAM J. WALLACE, P.A. 115 N.W. 11<sup>th</sup> Avenue Okeechobee, Florida 34972

Phone: 863-467-4671 Fax: 863-763-5360

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS, SCOTT COREY KIRTON, DUDLEY R.
KIRTON d/b/a THUNDERCROSS MOTOR SPORTS PARK

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death action arising from an accident resulting in the tragic death of a minor child, Christopher Jones, which occurred on May 10, 2003 at the Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park in Okeechobee, Florida. Christopher Jones was the fourteen year old son of Bobby and Bette Jones (V.5, R. 691). Bobby and Bette Jones were divorced on or about March 31, 2003 (V.5, R. 691). Under the terms of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage and the Jones' Marital Settlement Agreement, Mr. Jones was the custodial parent of both his sons, Christopher and Kyle, after he and his wife were divorced (V. 5, R. 697). Mr. Jones had the responsibility for the care of both sons on a day-to-day basis (V.5, R. 697). In fact, at the time of the accident, Bette Jones had not re-established visitation with Christopher.

Bobby Jones and his sons enjoyed racing all terrain vehicles ("ATVs"). Mr. Jones took Christopher to Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park to allow him to race and ride on several occasions. To gain entry into the track and, in order to 1 participate in a race, all participants were required to execute the Release and Waiver of Liability, Assumption of Risk and Indemnity Agreement (V.5, R. 691). In order for Christopher to be allowed to race, Mr. Jones was required by the Park to execute a Release and Waiver of Liability which authorized Christopher to participate in racing practice sessions with his ATV (V.5, R. 691). The Release

was executed by Mr. Jones, as the custodial parent, on Christopher's behalf (V.5, R. 691-692). At the time of this accident, which is the subject of this litigation, Christopher was participating in a racing practice session while riding his ATV (V.5, R. 691).

The Release executed by Mr. Jones provides as follows:

IN CONSIDERATION of being permitted to complete, officiate, observe, work for, or participate in any way in the EVENT(S) ... EACH OF THE UNDERSIGNED, for himself, his personal representatives, heirs, and next of kin:

HEREBY RELEASES, WAIVES, DISCHARGES AND **COVENANTS NOT** TO SUE the promoters, participants, racing associations. sanctioning organizations or any subdivision thereof, track operators, track owners, officials, car owners, drivers, pit crews, rescue personnel, any persons in any RESTRICTED AREA, promoters, sponsors, advertisers, owners and lessees of premises used to conduct the EVENT(S), premises and event inspectors, surveyors, underwriters, consultants and others who give recommendations, directions, or instructions or engage in risk evaluation or loss control activities regarding the premises or EVENT(S) and each of them, their directors, officers, agents and employees, all for the purposes herein referred to as "Releasees," FROM ALL LIABILITY TO THE UNDERSIGNED, his personal representatives, assigns, heirs, and next of kin FOR ANY AND ALL LOSS OR DAMAGE, AND ANY CLAIM OR DEMANDS THEREFOR ON ACCOUNT OF INJURY TO THE PERSON OR PROPERTY OR RESULTING IN DEATH OF THE UNDERSIGNED ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE EVENT(S). WHETHER THE **NEGLIGENCE** CAUSED BYTHE OF RELEASEES OR OTHERWISE.

HEREBY ASSUMES FULL RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY RISK OF BODILY INJURY, DEATH, OR PROPERTY DAMAGE arising out of or related to the EVENT(S) whether caused by the NEGLIGENCE OF THE RELEASEES or otherwise.

HEREBY acknowledges that THE ACTIVITIES OF THE EVENT(S) ARE VERY DANGEROUS and involve the risk of serious injury and/or death and/or property damage. Each of THE UNDERSIGNED, also expressly acknowledges that INJURIES RECEIVED MAY BE COMPOUNDED OR INCREASED BY NEGLIGENT RESCUE OPERATIONS OR PROCEDURES OF THE RELEASEES.

(V.5, R. 705).

The Affidavit of Bobby Jones was filed in support of Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment (V.5, R. 684). The Affidavit states in pertinent part that:

On May 10,2003, I took my son Christopher Jones to Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park to take part in a practice session.

[U]pon arrival at Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park, I was presented a General Release which was required to be executed before entry into the Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park facility.

Upon the general release being presented to me, I executed same on behalf of myself and my minor child Christopher Jones. I willingly, and with full understanding, executed the release on behalf of myself and Christopher Jones, my child. Specifically, I understood and it was my intention to, personally

and as custodial parent of Christopher Jones, waive the right to sue for the death of Christopher Jones

I understood that by signing the General Release that I was forever discharging Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park, their directors, officers, agents and employees from all liability to the undersigned, his personal representatives, assigns, heirs, and next of kin for any and all loss or damage, and any claim or demands therefor on account of injury to the person or property or resulting in death of the undersigned arising out of or related to the event(s), whether caused by the negligence of the releasees or otherwise.

That by signing this affidavit, I understand that a request is being made upon the court to dismiss this lawsuit with prejudice

#### (V.5, R. 690-691)

At the time he executed the Release, Mr. Jones fully understood he was executing the Release on behalf of himself and his son, Christopher Jones (V.5, R. 692). Mr. Jones further understood the language contained in the Release and that by signing the Release, he was forever discharging the track, its directors, officers, agents and employees, from all liability to the undersigned, his personal representatives, assigns, heirs, and next of kin for any and all loss or damage, and any claims or demands therefore on account of injury to the person or property or resulting in death arising out of or related to the events at the track, including anything caused by the negligence of the releasees (V.5, R. 692).

On or about January 4, 2005, FIELDS, as Personal Representative of the estate of Christopher Jones, filed suit. KIRTONS/THUNDERCROSS filed their Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Amended Complaint. One of the Affirmative Defenses raised by KIRTONS/THUNDERCROSS was that the claims raised by FIELDS were barred by the Release and Waiver executed by Mr. Jones on behalf of his son (V.1, R. 66).

After exchanging responses and proceeding through discovery, Defendants SCOTT COREY KIRTON, and DUDLEY R. KIRTON filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on or about November 22, 2005. On or about December 9, 2005, Defendants H. SPENCER KIRTON and KIRTON BROTHER LAWN SERVICE, INC. filed their Motion for Summary Judgment.

On December 15, 2005, a hearing was held before the trial court on Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment<sup>1</sup> and, after having heard argument of

\_\_

During the December 15, 2005 hearing, counsel to DYESS moved *ore tenus* to join in Defendants SCOTT COREY KIRTON, and DUDLEY R. KIRTON Motions for Summary Judgment (Trnspt. P. 34, L. 24 through P. 35, L. 6). FIELDS stipulated that the Motions for Final Summary Judgment were based upon the identical issues raised by Defendants SCOTT COREY KIRTON, and DUDLEY R. KIRTON, and he did not object to DYESS' *ore tenus* motion (Trnspt. P. 35, L. 8-16). FIELDS further agreed to the form of the March 8, 2006 Order Granting Defendants' Final Summary Judgment providing that: "Motions for Final Summary Judgment based upon the identical issues raised by Defendants, Scott Corey Kirton and Dudley R. Kirton d/b/a Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park are capable of being disposed of in favor of Defendants, H. Spencer Kirton d/b/a Thunder Cross Motor Sports Park, Kirton Brothers Lawn Service, Inc. and Dean Dyess." (V.5, 717).

counsel, the trial court found that no issue disputed facts exist (Trnspt. P. 33, L. 8). The trial court granted Summary Judgment on behalf of the Defendants, dismissing the case with prejudice (Trnspt. P. 33, L. 12). The trial court found that a parent may specifically waive the personal injury rights of their minor child based upon *Theis v. J&J Racing*, 571 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) and *Lantz v. Iron Horse Saloon*, 717 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (Trnspt. P. 33, L. 12-19). On March 8, 2006, the trial court entered its Order granting Summary Judgment.

Respondent appealed the final summary judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. On August 8, 2007, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion reversing the trial court's final summary judgment. *Fields v. Kirton*, 961 So.2d 1127 (Fla. 4<sup>h</sup> DCA 2007). While reversing the trial court, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified a conflict with *Lantz v. Iron Horse Saloon*, 717 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). In addition, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the following question as a question of great public importance:

### WHETHER A PARENT MAY BIND A MINOR'S ESTATE BY THE PRE-INJURY EXECUTION OF A RELEASE.

KIRTONS/THUNDERCROSS filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court citing the certified question and the certified conflict by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. On December 20, 2007, this Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction of this case based upon the certified question and the certified conflict.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court accepted jurisdiction in this action to resolve the following certified question of great public importance of whether a parent may bind a minor's estate by the pre-injury execution of a release, and to resolve the certified conflict between the opinion rendered by the District Court below and the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in Lantz v. Iron Horse Saloon, 717 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).<sup>2</sup>

This case presents the single issue of whether a parent under Florida law may execute a binding, pre-injury release agreement on behalf of his minor child. A parent's right to make decisions relating to the care of his minor child is a fundamental right protected by both the Federal and Florida Constitutions. The United States Supreme Court has made it clear that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the fundamental right of parents to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of their children. importantly, The Florida Constitution's express right to privacy provision provides an even broader protection of a parent's fundamental rights. The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly held that under Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution parents have a right to make decisions about their child's welfare without interference by third parties.

On or about January 4, 2008, the 5<sup>th</sup> DCA clarified the *Lantz* decision wherein it appears that it would no longer be in conflict with the 4<sup>th</sup> DCA's Opinion rendered in *Fields v. Kirton*.

The District Court below found that parents do not have a common law authority to waive the substantive rights of a child without court approval. For this reason, the District Court held the release unenforceable finding that the release constituted a forfeiture of the minor's property rights and that it was the duty of the legislature and not the court to change the law. This argument misapprehends Florida law. Based upon a parent's fundamental constitutional right to make decisions for their minor children under both the State and federal constitutions, Florida courts recognize the enforceability of pre-injury agreements to arbitrate, pre-injury waivers of liability, and the waiver of an award under the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Compensation Act. Thus, the premise that only the Florida Legislature may grant parents the right to waive substantive rights is simply wrong.

FIELDS' and the District Court's citation to Fla. Stat. § 744.301(2) as authority that pre-injury waivers are unenforceable is also unpersuasive. §744.301(2) provides that natural guardians may settle a claims or causes of action for damages that do not exceed \$15,000.00, but does not address pre-injury claims. This Court recognized in *Shea*, the absence of such a statutory scheme means that the Legislature has not precluded enforcement of such pre-injury releases. A pre-injury release is the equivalent to an accrued claim for less than \$15,000.00. Like claims for less than \$15,000.00, a pre-injury setting, the policy concerns requiring judicial instruction and supervision are simply not present. Thus, the Florida

Legislature's silence on providing restrictions relating to pre-injury claims argues in favor of a parent's right to execute a binding waiver of liability in a pre-injury setting.

Such a finding is consistent with and parallel's Florida law in regard to the running of applicable statutes of limitation for a minor's claim. Under Florida law, the disability of minority does not stop the running of the statute of limitations except in very limited circumstances. Generally, where the parent of a minor has knowledge of the minor's claim, the statute of limitations for such claim is not tolled. If a parent has the legal ability to allow a minor child's existing claim to be extinguished, a parent should have the authority to sign a binding release for a preinjury claim.

Finding pre-injury releases valid is consistent with the strong public policy reflected in Florida's statutory framework. The Florida Legislature favors the ability of parents to make decisions on behalf of their children in numerous and wide-ranging activities. Under Florida law, several acts that would otherwise be criminal are expressly allowed with the permission of a parent. Additionally, a parent is provided the authority to make binding decisions relating to many fundamental aspects of a minor child's life, some of which clearly involve commercial activities.

Several other states have found pre-injury waivers to be valid and enforceable. The decisions upholding pre-injury waivers recognize the importance of both parental authority and the availability of opportunities for children to participate in a variety of sports and extracurricular activities. In contrast, the out of state cases cited by FIELDS finding pre-injury waivers invalid contain no discussions or otherwise even allude to any state constitutional provisions similar to Florida's and only two (2) even mention a parent's fundamental rights under the Federal Constitution. Additionally, none of the cases indicate or discuss the existence of a statutory scheme similar to Florida's laws. Florida law and public policy are clearly aligned with those jurisdictions upholding the validity of pre-injury releases.

KIRTON/THUNDERCROSS recognizes that the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Applegate v. Cable Water Ski, L.C.*, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA Jan. 4 2008), 2008 WL 45530, 33 Fla. L. Weekly, D146 recently declared pre-injury releases invalid as against Florida public policy. Respectfully, the *Applegate* decision is wrongly decided. The Fifth District relied on the same foreign case law cited by FIELDS in his brief below which is not aligned with Florida law and public policy. Additionally, the Fifth District draws the distinction between commercial and non-commercial activities despite this Court's rejection of the distinction in *Shea*. However, this Court's reasoning for disapproving the

distinction applies with equal force to the decision of enforcing the pre-injury liability provisions. Under this Court's reasoning in *Shea*, pre-injury releases should be upheld without distinction as to the activities involved.

This Court should answer the certified question of great public importance in the affirmative, reverse the Fourth District's decision below and remand the case with instructions to affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of KIRTON/THUNDERCROSS in this case.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. <u>Jurisdiction and Standard of Review</u>

This is an appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal's reversal of a summary final judgment entered by the trial court in favor of KIRTON/THUNDERCROSS. This Court accepted jurisdiction in this action to resolve the following certified question of great public importance:

### WHETHER A PARENT MAY BIND A MINOR'S ESTATE BY THE PRE-INJURY EXECUTION OF A RELEASE?

This Court further accepted jurisdiction based upon the certified conflict between the opinion rendered by the District Court below and the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in *Lantz v. Iron Horse Saloon*, 717 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) wherein the Fifth District upheld and enforced a pre-injury release executed by a mother on behalf of her minor child. For the reasons set forth herein, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative, and reverse the Fourth District Court of Appeal decision below. <sup>3</sup>

The case below was

The case below was an appeal from trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of KIRTON/THUNDERCROSS. The standard of review by this Court and the District Court of the trial court's entry of summary judgment is *de novo*. *State v. Presidential Women's Center*, 937 So. 2d 114, 116 (Fla. 2006). In order to be entitled to summary judgment, the Court must determine whether there are any genuine issues of material fact and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.510(c); *Scheibe v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 822 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002). Essentially, all of the facts set forth in KIRTON/THUNDERCROSS' Statement of the Case were undisputed in the trial court. As of the date of this brief, neither the *Krathen* or *Applegate* 

The Pre-Injury Assumption And Risk Indemnity П. Agreement Executed By Mr. Jones On Behalf Of His Minor Son Is Valid And Enforceable Under Florida Law, And, Therefore, The Claims Asserted By FIELDS In This Action **Are Barred Under The Terms Of The Agreement.** 

This case presents the single issue of whether a parent under Florida law may execute a binding, pre-injury release agreement on behalf of his minor child in the context of allowing the minor child to participate in a commercial sporting event. For generations, parents and their children, together, have enjoyed activities which to others might appear as risky or inherently dangerous. These activities include horseback riding, scuba diving, and motor sports racing. As a result of our litigious environment, those who provide opportunities for families to engage in such activities have been unable to secure insurance without the participants' execution of liability waivers and releases. In particular, these activities often involve the necessity of the fathers and mothers executing such releases on behalf of their children so they can enjoy these lawful activities together. If the Court rules that such releases are unenforceable, it will have a devastating effect on the availability of such family opportunities and activities. Immediately, families will no longer be able to bond together through the intimate interaction inherently involved while participating in these lawful endeavors.

opinions are noted as final opinions by Westlaw. Additionally, it appears from the docket in *Krathen* that an unresolved Motion for Rehearing is still pending before the court.

In analyzing the question before this Court, it is important to recognize the narrow issue presented in this case. Florida law recognizes, in general, that waiver and exculpatory clauses are valid and enforceable if the intent to relieve a party of its own negligence is clear and unequivocal. Banfield v. Louis, 589 So. 2d 441, 444 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1991). Furthermore, Florida courts do not distinguish between exculpatory clauses contained in commercial contracts and those relating to recreational or sporting activities. Banfield, 589 So. 2d at 444. In fact, courts have upheld exculpatory clauses against participants in numerous sporting activities. See, e.g., Travent, Ltd. v. Schecter, 718 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (bicycle tour); Banfield v. Louis, 589 So. 2d 441, 444 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1991) (triathlon event); Shaw v. Premier Health and Fitness Center, Inc., 937 So. 2d 1204 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) (health club); Borden v. Phillips, 752 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (scuba diving); Theis, II v. J & J Racing Promotions, 571 So. 2d 92 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1990) (sprint car racing); Deboer v. Florida Offroaders Driver's Association, Inc., 622 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993) (off-road race). FIELDS did not challenge the language of the release or that the release is void for public policy reasons associated generally with the type of activity at issue. The sole issue presented is whether the pre-injury release agreement executed by the parent on behalf of his minor child in the context of allowing the minor child to participate in a sporting event is binding under Florida law.

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