IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1739

SCOTT COREY KIRTON, and DUDLEY R. KIRTON d/b/a/THUNDER CROSS MOTOR SPORTS PARK,

Petitioners,

-VS-

JORDAN FIELDS, as Personal Representative of the Estate of CHRISTOPHER JONES,

Respondent	t .	
		,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

On certified question and certified conflict from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

Lawrence C. Huttman, Esq.
RUBIN & RUBIN
P.O. Box 395
Stuart, FL 34995
And
Bard D. Rockenbach, Esq.
BURLINGTON & ROCKENBACH, P.A.
2001 Professional Building/Suite 410
2001 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.

West Palm Beach, FL 33409

(561) 721-0400

(561) 721-0465 (fax)

Attorneys for Respondent

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

As in the other instances discussed above, the parents in <u>Peterson</u> were acting to preserve, not destroy, their child's rights. Although one could argue that it was a better plan to accept the award under the Act instead of risking the outcome of a jury trial, the decision to do so was made by the parents after consultation and advice of counsel and based on all the facts of the situation after a hearing before the ALJ. It should also be pointed out that the entity which was advocating for the acceptance of the award (the hospital) was the entity which would benefit from the decision to accept the award and forego a jury trial. It is doubtful that the hospital had the child's best interests in mind.

The difference between the situations cited by Petitioner and the enforceability of a release can be understood as a recognition that parents generally have control over the person of the child, while having almost no control over the property of the child. When it comes to the question of where the child should go to school, with whom the child should socialize, to file suit and the activities in which the child should participate, a parent has the right to make those decisions. However, the decision to allow a child to participate in an activity is separate from the decision to waive the protection the law provides a child and destroy a child's potential right of action. To the extent the parents in <u>Peterson</u> were foregoing an award, it was done after a full hearing, on advice of counsel and after all the facts were known. When a

parent is given a pre-injury release, the parent knows nothing about the activity provider, the risk, what injuries the child will sustain, the medical expenses that will be incurred or the impact on the child's life. It is a decision made in the dark with lifelong, or life-ending, implications for the child.

The Petitioner's argument is based on the assumption that a parent cannot make the decision to allow a child to participate without also waiving future claims. This is based on the erroneous assumption that the activity does not exist without the waiver. Although experience may suggest that activity providers always require a release before providing the activity, there is no reason to assume that the activity will not exist without the release.

II. Predictions of Economic and Social Upheaval

As the foundation for the argument that pre-injury releases must be enforceable, Petitioners and amicus have argued that if parental pre-injury releases are unenforceable then children will be robbed of all recreational activity. The argument assumes that a parent cannot make the <u>parental</u> decision to allow a child to participate without also succumbing to the activity provider's tactic of including a release of all claims. In essence, the Petitioners and amicus argue that they can only provide

activities for children if they are allowed to provide the activities negligently and at the risk of injury or death to the children participating.

Respondents submit that the claim of economic upheaval and the loss of all interesting activities for children is only a scare tactic without evidentiary or even anecdotal support. The same argument was made in City of Santa Barbara v. Superior Court, 41 Cal.4th 747, 770, 161 P.3d 1095, 1110, 62 Cal.Rptr.3d 527, 545 (Cal. 2007), and was addressed by the California Supreme Court to a considerable degree.⁶ In City of Santa Barbara, the defendants argued that unless "recreation service providers" could obtain agreements to release liability for both future ordinary and future gross negligence, the "inevitable result will be fewer-and more expensive-programs" and that "many popular and lawful recreational activities are destined for extinction." Id. at 1109. The claims of Armageddon were numerous and varied. In that case, a wide variety of amici claimed that invalidating releases for gross negligence would "[wreak] havoc on recreational providers" leading them to a "precipice from which there would be no return," cause "far reaching and devastating consequences" and make certain activities a thing of the past. In this case, the American Motorcycle

⁶ <u>City of Santa Barbara</u> involved the question of whether a pre-injury release, which purported to release the operator of a summer camp (the City) for developmentally disabled children from all negligence was enforceable to release the operator from gross negligence as well as ordinary negligence. The court only addressed, and the parties only briefed, the issue of enforceability as to gross negligence.

Association claims that without exculpatory releases the providers would find it "economically untenable" to continue to provide the activity, blaming the need for pre-injury releases on a litigious society. Petitioner has argued that if pre-injury releases are held unenforceable (Petitioner Brief, p. 13-14),

it will have a devastating effect on the availability of such family opportunities and activities. Overnight, hundreds, if not thousands, of small "mom and pop" businesses will cease to exist, and hundreds, if not thousands, of families will no longer be able to bond together through the intimate interaction inherently involved while participating in these lawful endeavors.

In its discussion of the various claims of social disaster if pre-injury releases of gross negligence were invalidated, the California Supreme Court in <u>City of Santa</u>

<u>Barbara</u> looked to instances where pre-injury releases of ordinary negligence were invalidated and wrote (emphasis added):

...in numerous contexts concerning recreational sports and related programs, courts categorically have voided agreements releasing liability for future ordinary negligence without (so far as we can discern) triggering in any substantial degree the dramatically negative effects predicted by defendants and their amici curiae. (City of Santa Barbara., 41 Cal.4th at 770, 161 P.3d at 1110

* * *

We brought the cases from these six states (Connecticut, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, and West Virginia) and the New York statute to the parties' attention and solicited supplemental briefing concerning defendants'

policy argument that enforcing releases of liability for future ordinary negligence, but not for future gross negligence, would lead to the demise or substantially diminished availability of recreational services and programs. Thereafter, pursuant to a request by defendants, we allowed additional supplemental briefing. The ensuing briefing, however, disclosed no empirical study suggesting that holdings such as those described above, precluding the release of liability for future ordinary negligence (or for that matter, similar holdings under Tunkl [v. Regents of the University of California, 60 Cal.2d 92, 383 P.2d 441, 32 Cal.Rptr. 33 (1963)] have triggered the predicted elimination or even widespread substantial reduction of the affected services or programs. Indeed, defendants forthrightly concede in their supplemental briefs that they found no empirical support for such assertions. (City of Santa Barbara, 41 Cal.4th at 773, 161 P.3d at 1112)

* * *

Indeed, it appears that the experience of our sister states has not borne out the predictions of defendants and their supporting *amici curiae*. In Virginia and New York, for example-where, as noted above, agreements to release future liability for ordinary negligence causing personal injury long have been categorically barred by case law or generally precluded by statute, as construed by case law-service providers have been subjected to the potential of liability substantially greater than that facing their counterparts in California and most other jurisdictions, which (as observed ante, at part II.E) generally uphold such releases. And yet, our research suggests that the predicted demise of recreational opportunities apparently has not come to pass in Virginia or New York. Id. at 1113.

The California Supreme Court noted that one of the amici curae, NASCAR, argued that without the releases there would be no spectators and no NASCAR racing.

However, the court found that according to NASCAR's own website, 2 of the 31 NASCAR affiliated major speedways were located in Virginia and New York, two states which have long held pre-injury releases for ordinary negligence unenforceable. City of Santa Barbara, 41 Cal.4th at 774-775, 161 P.3d at 1113-1114). Similarly, there has been no vast economic upheaval reported since the Fourth District issued its decision in this case.

This discussion by the California court demonstrates that there is no link between the availability of recreational activities and the enforceability of pre-injury releases. It also shows that a parent can exercise the right to make decisions about the activities in which his or her child should participate without also having the authority to release pre-injury claims. Until the decision of the Fourth District decision in this case, activity providers had the ability, albeit without legal authority, to demand a release from parents with the threat that unless the parent signed, the child would not participate. Their ability to demand the releases actually reduced the parent's freedom to do what was best for the child because it took away the parent's ability to demand safety. If a school offered to bring an entire class of children to the zoo but children could only participate if the parents signed a release of the zoo, then any parent who wanted to keep his or her child safe would have only one choice – refuse to sign the release and have the child live with being the only one who didn't go. Most, if not all,

parents feel the pressure of not wanting their child to be an outcast. Therefore, they succumb to the demand for the release of liability. If the release is invalidated, parents regain the power to do what is best for their children without having to agree to the immunity demanded by the provider.

Petitioner's argument is further eroded by the realities of this case. Petitioner and amicus argue that unless exculpatory agreements are valid, they will be unable to obtain liability insurance and unable to operate. Actually, the Petitioners did not carry insurance. The argument that they need a pre-injury release so they can be responsible vendors and obtain insurance is simply not true. The argument also misses the point that if pre-injury releases are valid then the activity provider has no liability and has no need for insurance. Petitioner obtained the pre-injury release so they would not have any liability, could save money by not buying insurance, and not have to worry about keeping the children safe and running a legitimate facility which complied with the rules of the sanctioning organization. Contrary to the arguments in their brief, Petitioners do not want pre-injury releases to be valid so they can obtain insurance. They want pre-injury releases to be valid so they have no need to buy insurance. More importantly, that fact that Petitioner in this case operated Thunder Cross without insurance clearly disproves their argument that without insurance they will have to close down the business.

In response to the amicus' argument that ATV motocross sports provide valuable recreation for children like Christopher Jones (who was only 14 years old at the time of his death), it should be noted that the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission ("CPSC") states that in 2004 there were an estimated 136,100 victims of ATV accidents. ⁷ In 2003, 2004 and 2005, ATVs killed 152, 155 and 120 children under 16 years old.⁸ In consent decrees in 1988, manufacturers agreed they would place engine size restrictions on ATVs sold for use by children under 16 years old. ⁹. The CPSC states that children under 16 years old lack the developmental skills to safely drive ATVs with engine sizes over 90cc. ¹⁰ This lawsuit is based, in part, on Petitioner's negligence of allowing Christopher Jones to race a 350cc ATV when he was only 14 years old. With regard to the valuable family fun provided by the ATV Winter Olympics, the Gainesville Sun printed an in-depth article discussing the high number of fatalities and serious injuries to children participating in the ATV Winter Olympics and other events. 11

Application of the Law to this Case

⁷http://www.cpsc.gov/cpscpub/pubs/540.html

⁸ http://www.atvsafety.gov/stats.html

⁹ http://www.cpsc.gov/cpscpub/pubs/540.html

¹⁰ http://www.atvsafety.gov/children_tip.html

¹¹ http://www.gainesville.com/article/20060326/LOCAL/203260351

Bobby Jones was clearly not concerned with the best interest of his son. According to the Affidavit of Bette Jones, Bobby Jones did not comply with the requirements of the Marital Settlement Agreement when it came to raising Christopher or Christopher's safety. He allowed his 14 year old son to race ATV motocross on a 350 cc vehicle, which was nearly four times more powerful than was allowed by the American Motocross Association. After Christopher suffered a broken rib and a concussion riding his oversized ATV on the dangerous track, Mr. Jones did not inform Christopher's mother. He then allowed Christopher to race again one month later. As a final insult, Bobby Jones filed an Affidavit in this case to help Defendants avoid the wrongful death claim brought to benefit the only other survivor, Bette Jones. His actions have, at every turn, been contrary to the best interest of Christopher and, now, Christopher's estate.

These are precisely the circumstances in which the state's interest to protect children becomes critical. Parents do not always act in accordance with the best interest of their children. Mr. Jones may have been attempting to curry favor with his son in an effort to pull Christopher away from Bette Jones, or may have acted as he did in an effort to hurt his former wife. Certainly, his willingness to file an Affidavit to help the defense of the case indicates the latter. While his motivations may never

be known, it is obvious from the fact that he allowed his very young son to race a powerful and dangerous vehicle that he was not concerned with the safety of his son.

However, the unenforceability of the release in this case does not depend on the finding that Bobby Jones was not acting in the best interest of Christopher when he signed the release. As natural guardians, parents have limited authority which does not include authority to compromise claims on behalf of their children, and the legislature has not given parents the unlimited right to do so by statute. More importantly, the decision to let the child participate is separate from the decision to release all claims. Parents are free to make the decision to allow their child to participate, and the invalidation of any accompanying pre-injury release does not infringe on the parents' right to make decisions concerning how to raise their child. They are two separate decisions which implicate two different legal authorities and public policy considerations. Since tort law exists to protect children (among others), it is important to maintain the protections of the law. A pre-injury release actually <u>encourages</u> activity providers to cut costs at the expense of the safety of the children, perhaps even ignoring safety entirely because it removes their obligation of reasonable care toward children. Only the state has the authority to reduce the level of safety applicable to children.

Moreover, parents sign pre-injury releases without any information about the safety protocols in place by the activity provider. Parents are not told about the level of training given to the provider's employees, the history of injuries or deaths in the activity, the maintenance procedures used by the activity provider, or the level of supervision which will be in place with the children. Parents just know that his or her child wants to participate. The state, on the other hand, has a duty to protect children and the means to effectuate that goal. By finding that a pre-injury release signed by a parent on behalf of a child is unenforceable, the state gives parents the power to make childrearing decisions without being subjected to demands for immunity by those who provide the activities.

CONCLUSION

This Court should answer the certified question in the negative and approve the decision of the Fourth District. Inasmuch as the Fifth District has held that its decision in <u>Applegate</u> does not conflict with its decision in <u>Lantz</u>, there is no conflict between Lantz and the decision by the Fourth District for this Court to resolve.